

A comprehensive review of the end-of-life modeling in LCAs of digital equipment

Marion Ficher, Tom Bauer, Anne-Laure Ligozat

▶ To cite this version:

Marion Ficher, Tom Bauer, Anne-Laure Ligozat. A comprehensive review of the end-of-life modeling in LCAs of digital equipment. International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 2024, 30 (1), pp.20-42. 10.1007/s11367-024-02367-x . hal-04924691

HAL Id: hal-04924691 https://hal.science/hal-04924691v1

Submitted on 31 Jan 2025 $\,$

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

A comprehensive review of the end-of-life modeling in LCAs of digital equipment

Marion Ficher^{1*}, Tom Bauer^{2,3†} and Anne-Laure Ligozat^{4†}

^{1*}Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS, Laboratoire interdisciplinaire des sciences du numérique, Orsay, 91405, France.

²Univ. Bordeaux, CNRS, Bordeaux INP, I2M, UMR 5295, Talence, F-33400, France.

³Arts et Metiers Institute of Technology, CNRS, Bordeaux INP, Hesam Universite, I2M, UMR 5295, Chambery, F-73375, France.

⁴Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS, ENSIIE, Laboratoire Interdisciplinaire des Sciences du Numérique, Orsay, 91400, France.

*Corresponding author(s). E-mail(s): marion.ficher@lisn.upsaclay.fr; Contributing authors: tom.bauer@ensam.eu; anne-laure.ligozat@lisn.upsaclay.fr;

[†]These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract

Purpose In the context of the Anthropocene and the widespread use of ICT, the growth of digital e-waste should be tackled. In this paper, we examine the role of the of end-of-life (EoL) in relation to the other life cycle stages in life cycle assessments (LCA) of digital equipment. We investigate how LCAs of digital equipment model the EoL, what the results are for the environmental impacts of EoL treatments and if the LCAs published after the ETSI standard and the ITU-T 1410 recommendation follow EoL modeling criteria.

Method We did a systematic literature review with three main research criteria. The LCA must (1) concern digital equipment or compare digital devices, (2) consider several impact categories and (3) be from cradle-to-grave. As the number of scientific papers found was relatively small, we included LCAs of manufacturers, master thesis, and technical reports when they were appropriated. We found twenty-six references from academic and industrial sources corresponding to our research criteria.

Results and discussions Our review is structured according to the ISO 14040-14044 standards. EoL modeling is mainly in the scenario description, which is the first step of the LCA. For EoL modeling, we examine the allocation procedure, scenarios, distribution of scenarios, data source, transport modeling, EoL treatment rates, purity and quality of recycled materials, treatment of specific and hazardous components and informal flows modeling. We identify the missing elements in the studies and compare them to ETSI and ITU-T 1410. We find it is unclear whether ETSI and ITU-T 1410 are being followed in LCAs, as there are no noticeable changes in the EoL modeling. EoL often generates low environmental impacts compared to the other life cycle stages, except for some impact categories. Choices made in EoL modeling, such as using substitution with avoided impact approach or unspecified allocation, can result in low impact estimates. We underline the need for more transparency in EoL allocation modeling to enable comparisons and interpretation of results from clear reporting.

Conclusion There is no clear consensus on how to model EoL in an LCA. As the EoL of a digital device is highly uncertain, modeling needs to be more consistent and detailed. LCA practitioners should go beyond these guidelines. We identify several missing elements in current LCAs. We provide recommendations for future LCAs, including providing more detail on the substitution approach, considering informal flows, using primary data, and implementing a hybrid methodology.

Keywords: digital equipment, end-of-life modeling, e-waste, LCA, LCA modeling, sustainable ICT

Contents

1	Introduction			
2	\mathbf{Res}	earch methodology	4	
3	Met	ta-description of the LCA studies reviewed	6	
4	Res	ults	8	
	4.1	Goal and scope	8	
		4.1.1 Product system	8	
		4.1.2 System boundary	8	
		4.1.3 Scenarios description	10	
	4.2	Life Cycle Inventory	15	
		4.2.1 Data collection	15	
		4.2.2 Allocation	16	
	4.3	Life Cycle Impact Assessment	17	
		4.3.1 Impact categories	17	
		4.3.2 Impact assessment	17	
		4.3.3 Standardization of results	17	
	4.4	Life Cycle Interpretation	18	

		4.4.1 Results by EoL treatment	18		
		4.4.2 Results of the studies	20		
	4.5	Critical review	23		
5	Discussion				
	5.1	EoL modeling criteria	23		
	5.2	Temporal analysis	28		
	5.3	EoL regarding the other life cycle stages	28		
	5.4	Limits of the study	29		
6	Con	clusion	30		

1 Introduction

E-waste is one of the fastest-growing waste streams in the European Union (EU), which, if not properly treated, is hazardous [1-3]. At a global level, 62 Mt of e-waste were generated in 2022. Only 22.3% was documented streams, i.e., collected e-waste that may be properly recycled, and 77.7% undocumented streams [2]. E-waste from undocumented streams have an uncertain fate going from stockpiling, illegal exportation to sorting errors, etc.. [2, 4–6].

In particular, the production of digital electrical and electronic equipment (EEE), used for used for information and communication technologies (ICT) services daily, is increasing [3, 7, 8]. This growing production of digital EEE leads to an increase in the generation of waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE), or e-waste, at the end-of-life (EoL).

Several studies have reviewed LCAs of digital EEE [4, 9–14]. Among them, [11, 12] explicitly exclude the EoL from their analysis because it has negligible impacts regarding the global warming potential (GWP) indicator. [13] do not justify why they exclude this stage; the authors note that a focus limited to the manufacturing and use stages may not fully capture the overall impact. [4] highlight that this stage is less documented than other stages in the LCAs reviewed. [9] partly focus on EoL and show that LCAs have opposing views about the environmental relevance of EoL stage: either the EoL is neglected in the life cycle of electronics, either the EoL has a vital importance with the precious metals recovery. [14] express that EoL disposal of smartphones may cause multiple problems: leakage of materials, stockpiling and release of toxic substances in the environment. [7] express that a desktop computer's most environmentally damaging steps are manufacturing and disposal. The authors point out that most computers (8 out of 10) are still ending up in landfills. These reviews underscore the need to broaden the analysis to incorporate other environmental impact indicators aside from GWP. Five reviews focus their analysis on CO2e emissions [10-14], and sometimes on energy consumption. The GWP indicator is not the most relevant for EoL, which is why we will analyse multi-criteria LCAs. These LCA reviews show that the EoL phase is ignored or given relatively limited consideration. However, it seems essential to improve its modeling. In our analysis, we will focus specifically on the EoL phase. The main challenges in integrating the EoL are the uncertainties related

to the fate of the e-waste, with its diversity of scenarios, and the lack of reliable data [4, 14, 15]. Significant variations exist between regions and future end-of-life treatments (EoLT) technologies, and their applications are unknown [15].

Other studies focus on the EoL of digital equipment only [16–22]. These LCAs mostly aim to evaluate the WEEE management system and strategy or the potential of hazardous waste [23]. It differs from our goal. However, we can use their modeling to connect it with our research. [9] highlight that neglecting a life cycle phase may strongly influence the results.

Performing a LCA on digital equipment is guided by the ISO 14040-14044 standards [24, 25] and may follow the ETSI ICT standard [26], the ITU-T recommendations [15, 27] or Arcep/Ademe [28]. Our review provides a temporal analysis, and analyses if EoL modeling recommendations are followed in the LCAs reviewed after the publications of ICT standards and recommendations for LCA. We highlight the missing elements, and we provide opportunities for improving future LCAs and EoL modeling.

This review aims to study the position of the of EoL regarding the other life cycle stages in the LCAs of the digital equipment. We investigate how LCAs of digital equipment model the EoL, what the results for the environmental impacts of EoL treatments are and if the LCAs published after the ETSI standard and the ITU-T 1410 recommendation follow EoL modeling criteria. We also intend to go beyond the previous recommendations by exploring modeling criteria that are not expressed in the standard or recommendations. The following research question (RQ) is tackled: How do full LCAs of digital equipment model the EoL?

Section 2 explains our review processes methodology with our criteria. Section 3 makes an overview of the research criteria to answer our research question in the LCA studies of digital equipment. Section 4 expresses the observations and results from our review; this Section is divided into five parts following LCA steps defined in ISO 14-040-14044 standards. Section 5 highlights the limitations of the results and our methodological considerations. Section 6 concludes the review and opens perspectives for future research.

2 Research methodology

Our methodology is based on a systematic literature review of LCAs of digital devices. It was conducted following the criteria summarized in Table 1. We selected documents with the following inclusion criteria: LCAs or comparisons of LCAs, in which the authors performed the LCA(s); LCAs considering several impact indicators; LCAs considering the entire life cycle, including the EoL; peer-reviewed journal articles, conference papers, original equipment manufacturer product reports, technical reports and master thesis; written in English.

We kept one exclusion criteria. The criterion concerns scientific papers: the conference papers had to be referenced in Conference ranks [29], and for journal papers, the journal had to be referenced in Scimago Journal & Country Rank [30] with a Q3 ranking minimum. We estimate that these papers were robustly peer-reviewed. However, our expertise led us to integrate one conference paper that does not meet this

 Table 1: Research methodology process

Research question	- how do the full LCAs of digital equipment model the EoL? (RQ)	
Keywords	(i) LCA/ life cycle assessment/ environmental assessment/ lifecy-	
	cle assessment and	
	(ii) digital equipment name : smartphone/ mobile phone/ laptop/	
	tablet/ network equipment/ server/ TV/ television device/ com-	
	puter/ personal computer/ IoT	
Search process	- iterative search process	
	- snowballing	
Inclusion criteria	- scope: LCA studies of digital equipment including the end-of-life	
	and multi-criteria	
	- type of research: LCAs or comparisons of LCAs	
	- source: peer-reviewed journal articles and conference papers,	
	OEM products, technical reports, master thesis	
	- period of time: articles published between 1997 and 2023	
	- language: English	
Exclusion criteria	- source: Q3 ranking minimum for scientific papers and conferences	
	papers referenced in Conference ranking	

criterion but had a clear scientific methodology and was cited more than 100 times. This exception concerns [31].

The first step of the research methodology was an iterative research process. This consisted of using a combination of keywords (see Table 1) as research on scopus, for example, "("life cycle assessment" OR "LCA" OR "lifecycle assessment" OR "environmental assessment") AND ("laptop")". A large sample of papers appeared on the results of scopus, with 720 references in total. We also specified other types of equipment like server, router, multiplexer, VR. However, these searches did not bring any supplementary references. We firstly cutoff by practical screenings of titles and abstracts, which led to 115 papers remaining. We then applied the inclusion to the sample, drastically reducing the number of selected papers and articles to 30 references. By applying the exclusion criterion, the pool of papers reduced at 16 [32–47].

Regarding the limited scientific resources found, we expanded our research using the web and the Google Scholar platform. We searched for OEM product reports from ICT manufacturers and recommendations from researchers in the digital sustainability domain and found 15 references. OEM product reports can be a rich source of LCA because they represent the analysis from the ICT product manufacturers. Then, we applied the inclusion, which reduced the selection to 5 EOM product reports [48–52] and 3 references [53–55] on Google Scholar.

Due to the small number of remaining documents, we opted to leave the document's date flexible.

The second step of the methodology was the snowballing strategy. This involved searching for the references cited in the papers. We analyzed several review articles found on scopus and the selected papers. This strategy brought 2 new references [31, 56].

The final sample of selected references consists of 26 LCA studies.

3 Meta-description of the LCA studies reviewed

This section describes the meta-criteria of the LCA studies. We first looked at the considered perimeters (studied system, geographical region), shown in Figure 1. Then, we looked at the studied system LCA, shown in Figure 2. We finally looked at the LCA publication and general methodology (computational tool and the life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) method(s) used), shown in Table 2.



Fig. 1: Distribution of the LCAs regarding temporal and geographical perimeters

Figure 1 shows the distribution of LCAs regarding temporal and geographical perimeters. We found four recent studies published less than five years ago, thirteen published between five and ten years ago, and nine published more than ten years ago. Because of the fast evolution of ICT devices, this criterion is significant for understanding the studied system. LCAs are a long and drawn-up process; most often, equipment is already outdated when the LCA is performed. Moreover, ETSI standard [26] and ITU-T 1410 [15] were published in 2014; thirteen studies are published after. We study the evolution of modeling in 5.2. Most LCAs are from Europe (15 out of 26 LCAs), five are from Asia, three are from America, and three are from a mix of continents. None are from Africa or Oceania.

Figure 2 shows the distribution of the type of equipment of the LCAs related to the European WEEE categories. Thirteen LCAs are performed on digital equipment from category 6, with smartphones and computers. Twelve LCAs from category 2, laptops, displays, and tablets. And two LCAs from category 4, with servers.

Table 2 references the other main meta-criteria of the LCA studies. We first looked at the LCA publisher. Seventeen LCAs are from a scientific source (international journals and conferences), seven are from industry (equipment manufacturers or technical reports from sustainability companies), and two are master theses. We also looked at a possible conflict of interest; nine studies are performed with or by the industrial, nine LCAs are entirely academic, five are academic with governmental financial support, and three are performed by the academic and sustainability industry.



Fig. 2: Distribution by type of equipment. Note: One study has two equipment categories.

Table 2: Summary information about the LCAs

Information	Statistics
Publication	International journals (14), EOM from equipment manufacturers or partners (5), conferences (3), technical report (2), master thesis (2)
Conflict of interest	Performed with IT equipment manufacturers (9), fully academic (9), academic with governmental financial support (5), performed with academic and sustainability industrial (3)
LCIA method	mix of LCIA methods (8), CML (2001 or 2002) (6), ReCiPe (mid- points or endpoints) (6), Eco-indicator 99 (2), their own method (2), did not explain (2)
Computational tool	SimaPro (7), Gabi (7), did not explain (5), their own software (3), mix software (2), OpenLCA (1), Umberto (1)
Critical review	Did not highlight a critical review (21), highlight a critical review (5)

The LCIA method is critical for assessing the studied system's environmental impacts. Each LCIA method develops its characterization factors, used for the indicators of the impact category of the LCIA method. Eight LCAs used a mix of LCIA methods to perform the complete LCA. The ILCD Handbook [57] recommends different LCIA method depending on the impact category. Six used CML method (2001 or 2002), six other used ReCiPe (midpoints or endpoints) method, two used Eco-Indicator 99 method, two created their methodology, and two did not explain. None of the studies use PEF methodology, developed by European Commission.

The computational tool is an interface for modeling. Proprietary software is mostly used; seven used SimaPro, seven used Gabi, two used a mix of software, and one used Umberto. One study used OpenLCA, an open source software. Five studies did not specify the computational tool used, and three expressed that they used their software. The computational tools are mostly private applications requiring a license, like Gabi, SimaPro and Umberto. Only OpenLCA is an open-source and free software, used in one LCAs.

We also noticed that five LCAs have been the subject of a critical review, while twenty-one studies did not mention a critical review. LCAs published in scientific journals and conferences are peer-reviewed, which we considered an alternative validation of the process [15, 26].

4 Results

This section follows the steps of the ISO 14040-14044 standards [24, 25]: goal and scope, life cycle inventory, life cycle impact assessment, interpretation of results, critical review. The last section is not always a mandatory step of LCA. However, it is strongly recommended to validate the LCA. That is why we add it to our analysis. We analyse criteria related to the general methodology of LCA and specific to the EoL.

4.1 Goal and scope

4.1.1 Product system

One primary piece of information is the description of the digital equipment. i.e. its components and materials details. The bill of material (BOM) condenses this information. The BOM is generally available at the component level (20 out of 26 LCAs) but not at the material level. Only [34] provide a bill of primary material inputs for CRT and LCD monitors in which there are the material/component, the mass in kg and the percentage of weight. [33] provide a material balance for each component of the studied equipment, omitting, however, to put the weights of each material in the component. If the BOM is not supplied by the equipment manufacturer, LCA practitioners rely on the size and weight of the equipment components to estimate the material nomenclature after teardown (17 out of 26 LCAs) and/or use data from existing LCA databases. Extrapolation for the materials mapping is, therefore, a current practice.

4.1.2 System boundary

The system boundary influences the results to a large extent because it specifies all considered processes [41]. All LCAs analyzed are from cradle-to-grave. In three LCAs, the studied system includes the digital equipment and accessories like in [31, 37, 50]. Some differences in the system boundaries may appear with the inclusion of some stages like distribution, packaging, refurbishment and reuse. Some studies present the system boundary in a diagram [34, 36–40, 44, 46, 47, 54, 55], as recommended in the standard ISO 14044 [25]. Cut-offs and exclusions are also expressed clearly in [31, 51, 52]. For example, [31] precise to not consider the impact from material beyond the thirty most contributing materials.

Regarding the EoL, the system boundary can also be explicited with a diagram. Three studies present a diagram to describe the EoL system boundary [36, 39, 46].

EoL modeling criteria	Statistics	ETSI, ITU-T	Section
Allocation procedure	Substitution (12), did not explain (9), allocation by economic flows (1), mix of 50/50 and substitution (1), mix of alloca- tion by economic flows and substitution (1), cut-off (1), allocation by cause-effect analysis (1)	No	4.2.2
Scenarios	100% recycling (6), recycling and land- filling (6), no description (2), recycling and recovery (2), recycling and land- filling and recovery (2), recycling and landfilling and incineration (2), recycling and landfilling and recovery and reuse (2), landfilling and recovery (1), landfill- ing and reuse (1), 100% incineration (1)	Yes	4.1.3
Several distribution EoLT	Not available (21), Available (5)	No	4.1.3
Data source	Secondary data (13), mix of primary and secondary data (12), did not explain (1)	Yes	4.2.1
Type of loop	Not available (22), Closed-loop (2), Mix closed-loop and open-loop (3), 50/50 (1)	Yes	4.2.2
Transport modeling	Not available (14), Available (8), Partly available (4)	Yes	4.1.3
Collection rate	Not available (17), 100% (6), 50% (1), 46% (1), 9% (1)	No	4.1.3
Recycling rate	Not available (9), 100% (6), $=>50\%$ (4), $<50\%$ (3), mix (4)	No	4.1.3
Recovery rate	Not available (18), $<=20\%$ (4), mix (4)	No	4.1.3
Incineration rate	Not available (25), 100% (1)	No	4.1.3
Landfilling rate	Not available (16), $>=90\%$ (2), 50-89% (6)	No	4.1.3
Reuse rate	Not available $(24), <20\%$ $(3), 20\%$ (1)	No	4.1.3
Material recycling rates - for metals and plastics	Not available (16), Available (10)	Yes	4.1.3
Purity and quality of recy- cled materials	Not available (22), Available (4)	No	4.1.3
Treatment of the specific and hazardous components	Not available (15) , Available (11)	Yes	4.1.3
Information on recycling residues	Not available (13), Available (7), Partly available (3)	No	4.1.3
Informal flows modeling	Not available (23), Available (3)	No	4.1.3

 Table 3: EoL modeling criteria statistics

[39, 46] propose detailed diagrams, showing what treatment is modeled for each considered part of the digital equipment. [36] detail chemicals used for each EoLT of the desktop computer (for example, nitric, sulfuric, hydrochloric acid). These recycling processes require either energy or chemical resources, which can have a significant environmental impact regarding the environmental indicators considered. [39] propose a precise diagram of the treatment and disposal procedures for each part of the discarded TV in China.

4.1.3 Scenarios description

Several points concerning scenarios may or may not be described in the LCAs. We take an in-depth look at these steps: transport and collection modeling to each EoL treatments modeling. Figure 3 shows the distribution of EoLT scenarios for the studies.



Fig. 3: Distribution of EoLT scenarios

Transport, collection and stream

Collection modeling is missing in the LCAs. Collection is usually modeled as transportation only. Twelve studies express, or partly express, the EoL transport modeling. This generally refers to the transport between the collection point and the modeled treatment(s). As the line "Transport modeling" of Table 3 shows, transport modeling is not systematic. The distances and transportation modes considered vary depending on modeling or geographical perimeter: 680 km by truck for recycling for [51, 52], 1500 km with 75% truck and 25% train for [48-50, 54], 300 km by heavy truck for [55], 30 km and 100 km for recycling and 50 km for reuse by truck for [32], Ericsson internal conditions for recycling for [31], Swiss recycling system for [38], state of the art for [46], use of fossil oil with no distance for [36]. [36] find that recycling inhibits the burdens of resource depletion, acidification, global warming and other environmental parameters, they identify transportation as the primary source of environmental burdens for recycling. Four studies do not consider EoL transportation [34, 35, 43, 56] and ten do not explain transportation modeling. Transportation should be considered in EoL modeling regarding ETSI and ITU-T 1410. ETSI models EoL transportation with a mass, a distance and a factor emission for the transportation used.

The collection rate is significant information regarding WEEE management; yet it is not mentioned in most LCAs (17 out of 26 LCAs). Our definition of collection rate is the ratio between the amount of e-waste collected and the amount of e-waste put on the market. The collection rate is not equivalent to the recycling rate because not all the e-waste collected undergoes recycling. Our definition of the recycling rate is the ratio between the amount of e-waste that goes to recycling treatment and the amount of e-waste collected. Nevertheless, in the review, when the collection rate is mentioned, it is associated with and modeled as recycling. To facilitate modeling, [48–50, 54, 55]

assume that the phone is discarded in the regular recycling stream. This is why they assume a collection rate at 100% for which they model 100% recycling. [54] points out that studies about the percentage of mobile phones which end up in incineration facilities or landfill areas are missing. Even if the mobile phones' collection rate is rather low, they choose to model a collection rate of 100%. [44] also model a collection rate at 100%. [46] model it at 50%, according to the literature review [58]. [36] perform one LCA with two EoL scenarios. The first scenario assumes a collection rate of 46%, the then-current collection rate of the country. This rate is used as a recycling rate of 46%, and the remainder is landfilled. The first scenario is the closest to reality. The second scenario is considered as an optimistic scenario with a 100% collection and recycling rates. [53] model collection and recycling rates at 8 - 10%, according to Greenpeace.

Five studies conduct multiple scenarios to model the EoL [31, 36, 37, 39, 45], allowing for the visualization of various EoLT distributions possibilities. These scenarios reflect the uncertainties of EoL scenarios, varying into optimistic, pessimistic and realistic. Optimistic scenarios assume high recycling rates, which can go to 100%, while pessimist scenarios consider a greater proportion of landfilling. Realistic are the closest to reality. [39] compare four EoLTs: sanitary landfilling, hazardous waste incineration, recycling treatment by formal dismantling enterprises in China and EU recycling. They find that controlled landfilling generates low environmental burdens while incineration generates the highest burdens among the EoLT options. Recycling in China generates the most significant avoided impacts, and EU recycling generates low avoided impacts. [45] investigate four EoL scenarios. The authors conclude that a combination of 75%incineration with energy recovery and 25% landfilling is the most favored option, even preferred than 75% recycling and 25% landfilling. [36] perform two EoL scenarios: the first with the current collection and recycling rate at 46% and one optimistic scenario at 100% recycling. They found that recycling inhibits EoL burdens with the production of recycled materials. [37] perform three EoL scenarios varying the recycling conditions and landfilling. The best recycling scenario is state-of-the-art recycling. Worst-case recycling is recycling without sanitary protection, as in the current situation in China. The worst-case case scenario is landfilling without proper treatment of toxic substances. They find that managing toxic substances during recycling processes can reduce the environmental burden of EoLT by approximately 75 to 80%.

Six studies perform several scenarios to consider the influence of repairing, refurbishment or modularity [46, 48–50, 54, 55], which extends the life of the digital equipment but the scenarios are not modeled in the EoL disposal.

As the line "Informal flows modeling" of Table 3 shows, most LCAs do not consider informal flows (23 out of 26 LCAs), even though they are part of the majority of e-waste at a global level [2, 3]. Informal flows refer to undocumented e-waste that undergo unregulated treatments. [42] model informal flows as incineration with energy recovery. [46] model informal flows as controlled landfill. [31] perform the LCA with two scenarios for the EoL, one with the informal flows as formal recycling and another scenario with informal flows as landfill. With high rates of recycling, EoL impacts are decreasing significantly for some impact categories. [39] estimate that the informal recycling sector in China represents 74% of discarded TV EoL. However, they do not consider informal flows due to a lack of data, such as [45]. [53] model informal flows as informal recycling in Guiyu (China). The authors conduct a social LCA but could not conduct an environmental one by lack of data.

Recycling



Fig. 4: List of materials modeled for recovery in recycling

In most LCAs, information about EoLT is generally limited to the type of treatment (e.g. 22% landfill, 78% recycling), with no indication of the treatment steps. [33] detail the pre-treatments' steps. Other studies describe the EoLTs' steps: [34, 42, 44, 46, 51, 52, 54]. And [53] describe informal recycling.

As Figure 3 shows, recycling is modeled in most studies (21 out of 26 LCAs). In six LCAs, the modeling is 100% recycling [37, 48–50, 54, 55]. [54] points out that there is a lack of reliable data for the environmental impact of landfilling and incineration

of electronic devices. This is why she only focuses on recycling. In seventeen LCAs, recycling is mixed with landfilling, recovery, incineration or/and reuse. [33, 38, 44, 51, 52] model full recycling for some components or materials but not all equipment. [41] model 25% recycling in China and 25% recycling in Sweden. [53] model a recycling rate at 8 - 10%, according to Greenpeace.

Most of the studies detail the list of materials modeled for the recovery processes in recycling (15 out of 26 LCAs). In other cases, it is only Plastics, Metals, or Steel or undefined. Figure 4 shows the materials modeled in recycling. Some materials such as aluminum, silver, gold, copper, palladium, and steel are often modeled as recovered. Cobalt, chromium, nickel, lead, platinum, antimony, tin, plastics, and glass are less or rarely modeled as recovered. Some studies do not detail the list of materials recovered and expressed only metals or electronics. For example, [31] consider thirty of the most impactful metals for raw material extraction and manufacturing stages. However, they do not specify whether these thirty metals are also modeled in the EoL phase. Lead can be recycled from cables [38], and copper and cobalt or just cobalt from batteries [48– 50]. ETSI and ITU-T 1410 recommend to list the most important materials recovered.

Plastic recycling is considered in five LCAs and glass in four LCAs (see Figure 4), but in most EoL scenarios, glass and plastic are either incinerated or not indicated. Glass is recycled from the screen panel and avoids the production of sand [42]. Plastic is generally recycled from housing or packaging [53]. [53] state that plastic packaging is recycled. Both LCAs that consider glass recycling perform an LCA on a tablet, digital equipment with a large screen. [42] indicate that glass goes to mechanical treatment and model sand avoided in the production of primary raw production material. [37] consider that all the plastic is recycled. [36] assume that plastic is recycled and do not share its material recycling rate. [39] indicate in the EoL process diagram that plastics such as PP/PE and ABS and 30% of the panel glass go for reuse. [55] considers that mixed plastics have a recovery rate varying between 47,2% and 74,2%, the variation depending on the material type, and the packaging glass have a recovery rate of 74,2%. ETSI and ITU-T 1410 model the plastic recycling as optional.

Ten LCAs share their assumptions of the material recycling rates modeled for recycling. The material recycling rate is the percentage of material recovered after recycling of metal or plastic). [48–50] consider 95% material recycling rates. [46] assume that the amount of recycled metals contained in the laptop at his EoL is equal to the amount of primary metals used in the production, due to lack of data on metal losses in components production. The authors express that it may potentially overestimate the avoided impacts of recycling because of the metal losses in components production. Nevertheless, avoided impacts are only assessed on expensive metals like gold, for which the metal losses are negligible. [31] use the UNEP recycling rates. In terms of material recovery rates, [55] is the most precise study: the authors share in detail different recovery rates for each ecoinvent material type and the waste treatment. Material recycling rates vary from 47.2% for mixed plastics and PET to 78.8% for aluminum, chromium and copper.

Additionally, the assumed purity and quality of the secondary material (obtained after recycling) are rarely given (4 out of 26 LCAs). [33] indicate that the recycled

plastic from the monitor's cabinet produces plastic toys or other low-grade plastic products. [49] specify that there is no loss in quality in gold and copper recycling. [51, 52] say that aluminum and steel can be almost wholly recycled and have the same value as the primary.

Lastly, some studies share information on the fate of recycling residues (7 out of 26 LCAs). Recycling residues may undergo incineration, recovery, or landfilling. These residues are the materials that are not recycled during the recycling process and remain. [48–50] assume that recycling residues are lost and do not consider them. [51, 52] assume that recycling residues go to landfilling and generate minor impacts because they are inert, [33] go either to landfilling or incineration, [42] landfilling or recovery. [38] assume that lead and copper cables and plastic goes to incineration. [39] assume that they go to incineration. [55] indicates that 19.15% of the residues are incinerated while 80.85% of the remains are landfilled. When recycling residues fate is not clearly expressed, we do not know whether or how they are considered in environmental impact modeling.

Other treatments

After recycling, landfilling is the second modeled EoLT (13 out of 26 LCAs), as Figure 3 shows. Some LCAs model a sanitary landfill or controlled landfill i.e. infrastructures that minimize the release of toxic substances into the environment [39, 46]. [37] model a worst case scenario landfilling, in which there is no control of the release of toxic substances. The following LCAs do not describe the landfilling scenario: [31–36, 41, 45, 47, 51, 52].

Preparation for reuse is rarely estimated in LCAs (4 out of 26 LCAs), as this treatment is very limited. For example, in France, reuse (life extension by repairing) represents 1% of WEEE tonnages processed in France [59]. Two studies consider the reuse of digital equipment or components of the digital equipment as part of the EoL disposal scenario [32, 53]. [53] model that 20% of the laptops are reused in China. They assume that the reuse lasts two years. [34, 35] model the rate of remanufacturing between 3 to 15%. ETSI and ITU-T recommend that preparation for reuse be included as a step in EoL.

Furthermore, eight studies consider reuse as part of the life cycle, and not in the EoL modeling [34, 35, 48–50, 54, 55]. Five out of these eight studies consider repair scenarios (changing components) and compare the repair scenario to the main EoL disposal scenario [46, 48–50, 54]. [48–50] find that production of the spare parts generates most of the impacts, with the specific impact depending on the type of component being replaced. However, the repair scenario generally results in lower overall emissions, except for the integrated circuit on the PCB replacement that generates most of the impacts. [55] performs a case study by creating different user profiles to examine the environmental benefits of reusing a smartphone. [34, 35] consider the reuse in the use stage.

There are two types or incineration: incineration without recovery and incineration with recovery. The authors do not systematically specify what type of incineration is modeled. We here define "recovery" as incineration with energy recovery, and "incineration" as incineration without recovery. Recovery is modeled in eight LCAs and incineration in three LCAs, as Figure 3 shows. [42] describe two types of incineration

plants: heat only boiler plant and combined heat and power plant. [42] assume that 65% of e-waste is sent to combined heat and power plants, while the remaining 35% is sent to heat only boiler plants. [51, 52] model recovery only for packaging (paper and plastic). The following studies do not describe recovery [34, 35, 38, 47]. [39] model hazardous waste incineration, in which the incineration plant is equipped with a pollution control system and meets national emissions standard.

Some studies (10 out of 26 LCAs) indicate that specific and hazardous components (like a printed wiring board (PWB), printed circuit board (PCB), batteries, SSD or HDD, etc.) have different treatments. ETSI and ITU-T 1410 indicate that environmental hazardous waste may go to destruction, recovery or special landfill. Information is generally limited, and the treatment steps are not detailed. [39] describe the fate of PWB. PWB is divided into electric components and PCB. Electric components go to incineration whereas PCB is shredded, separated for copper and nonmetallic material recovery. [33] specify that the PCB is reused in China and goes out of the scope. [56] indicate that PCB and hazardous parts, such as the LCD screens, are separated and sent for material recovery or treatment. [48–50, 54, 55] indicate that the battery goes to recycling but do not indicate specific treatment for the PCB. [38, 51, 52] indicate that PWB and electronics parts are shredded to recover precious metals and do not specify the fate of the battery. [42] state that the battery and PCB are recycled. PCBs are not fully recyclable; raw materials are never recycled at 100% due to process losses [60].

4.2 Life Cycle Inventory

4.2.1 Data collection

ETSI and ITU-T 1410 express that primary data or ICT-specific secondary data should be used for recycling, storage/ disassembly/ dismantling, shredding, for ICT-specific EoLT and preparation for reuse of ICT goods. For other EoLT, secondary data can be used.

Regarding the data collection, some studies use primary data for EoL modeling combined with secondary data (9 out of 26 LCAs). When primary data is used, its origin (field data or recycler information) is not always specified. Only [36] state that they use specific-site data to collect, disassemble and pre-manipulate a waste computer provided by Korea Computer Recycling. [39] indicate that they use field surveys to reference the EoLT processes in order to know the current practice in professional dismantling enterprises. [34, 35] use primary data for most of the life cycle inventory of the LCA and partly for the EoL. The authors collected primary data from three companies for CRT recycling facilities, particularly the CRT shredding-and-materialsrecovery process. They also express the geographical and temporal perimeters of the data sets. However, LCD was a too recent technology, and recyclers did not have a specific process for recycling these displays. In their study, landfilling and incineration are from secondary data. Recyclers cited for EoL primary data source are: Wisetek [51, 52], Korea Computer Recycling [36] and Stena Recycling [46]. Most of EoL data are secondary data. Fifteen studies used only secondary data to assess the EoL impacts. Sources of secondary data vary from LCA databases (ecoinvent, ecobilan), computational tool (Gabi, SimaPro) to literature. The Swiss WEEE Recycling database is also used by [37, 38] for secondary data. In other studies, recyclers cited for EoL data source are Umicore [48–50] and Boliden [31, 41]. [32, 43] do not specified EoL data source.

4.2.2 Allocation

As the line "Allocation procedure" of Table 3 shows, substitution, with the avoidedimpacts approach is the most employed approach in the LCA studies (12 out of 26 LCAs). As a result, the EoL often generates environmental credits on all the impact categories assessed, which represent the avoided impacts. Nine studies do not describe their allocation procedure, which prevents the reproducibility of research, which is a large part of such an impacting factor. [54] uses an allocation with economic flow for recycling, according to the price of the recovered materials obtained from the recycling company. [55] applies a cut-off allocation. The author defines the cut-off when the smartphone enters the recycling facility. In this way, there are no environmental burdens and avoided impacts assessed from the production of the secondary materials. [31] apply a mix of 50/50 and substitution. The 50/50 allocation is only modeled for gold recycling. [46] use a mix of allocation with economic flow and substitution. The substitution is applied only to the primary inputs of the laptop while economic allocation is applied for the multi-output of the metal production processes. [33] apply an allocation by cause-effect analysis for the waste management.

In most cases, when the substitution approach is employed, only the final results are visible (13 out of 14 LCAs, in which the substitution is used), as in [31, 36, 38, 39, 41, 42, 44, 46, 48–52]. The authors do not distinguish between environmental burdens of EoLT and avoided impacts. The potential burdens of EoLTs are invisible in most of the LCAs. One study shows the environmental burdens of the treatments and the avoided impacts associated in a figure [37]. [38, 44] show the emission and resource consumption factors by materials. In one case, EoL results are entirely invisible because they are directly included in the extraction phase [31]. [46] share in the appendixes the exact list of materials modeled for recycling with the formulae of the calculation of the net secondary output for the EoL; nevertheless, the formulae is cropped and not fully readable. The authors explain that to avoid over-crediting the merits of metal recycling, the avoided impact approach was applied to the primary inputs of the laptop after loss in the recycling processes. Another issue highlighted is the impossibility to model the production as entirely composed of primary materials because of the lack of relevant data on econvent. When the substitution is not specified and recycling or recovery modeled, only the final results are visible as well [33–35, 53].

ETSI standard and ITU-T 1410 recommendation recommend the expression of the loop type, with the precision of the approach 100/0, 0/100, 50/50 or mixed. As the line "Type of loop" of Table 3 shows, in most LCAs (17 out of 21 LCAs, in which recycling is modeled), there is no explanation of the type of loop (open or closed) allocation for the recycling system. Only two LCAs mention the closed-loop system [33, 46]. [34]

express that depending on the type of material recovered, it can be an open-loop or a closed-loop. [31] apply a 50/50 approach for gold recycling.

4.3 Life Cycle Impact Assessment

4.3.1 Impact categories

In the LCAs selected, we notice that there is no standard in the characterization of LCIA methods for the entire life cycle and, therefore, for the EoL. We also observe several units of reference for a single indicator. For example, we notice three different units for the ADPf indicator: kg Sb eq, MJ and kg Oil eq. We made similar observations for all the indicators except for the GWP indicator. The number of midpoint impact categories considered ranges from 3 to 20.

Another important consideration in the modeling is the time horizons used to create the indicators. These time horizons are not visible in the LCAs and can lead to variations in results. According to [41], the burdens on the environment (water, soil, air) and human health (with exposure to toxic substances which act slowly) are often estimated over short periods. The authors explain that the short time horizons measurements can lead to a reduction in the value of the results, mainly if the burdens are generated on a non-human and geological time scale. It is the case, for example, for the impacts of burying non-biodegradable waste such as e-waste or nuclear waste. The authors indicate that ecoinvent covers a long-term 60,000 years for landfill-related impacts, but this is generally not the case. Time horizons are essential information, especially for landfilling treatment [61].

4.3.2 Impact assessment

[34, 35] are an exception among the others. The authors develop their own LCIA methodology. The authors attempt to consider chemical toxicity often ignored in LCIA methods. [34] share the formulae for each characterization factor, in which EoL is included (p236-248). No other LCAs set out the modeling formulae for the EoL impacts assessment. The EoL modeling comes generally from the LCA software used.

Nine LCAs partly share the processes chosen in the LCA data sets or in the software to model the EoL process. The processes are shared in the reports or appendixes [44–47, 51–54, 56]. Sharing these features helps to understand EoL modeling choices.

4.3.3 Standardization of results

There is no standardization in the expression of the potential environmental impacts; it can be expressed in midpoint or endpoint levels. LCIA methods assess either midpoints results, endpoint results or both. Midpoint impacts are the most common assessment (23 out of 26 LCAs). LCIA method should provide characterization factors on midpoint level [62]. Eight LCAs assessed the midpoints and the endpoints impacts and three LCAs share only the endpoints. ETSI and ITU-T 1410 recommend to share at minima midpoints impacts.

The presentation of results varies for each study. Nineteen LCAs present both absolute and relative impacts. Six studies present only relative impacts, and one only absolute impacts. For absolute impacts, the unit for a single impact indicator may vary according to the LCIA method used. This lack of standardization prevents comparison of LCA results, even with a similar functional unit. Furthermore, [44] shows the impact results only in ReCiPe points, which provides a characterized environmental impact result for each endpoint and midpoint category from the ReCiPe method only, which prevents any comparison with other LCIA methods.

4.4 Life Cycle Interpretation

4.4.1 Results by EoL treatment

Reading these LCA studies did not bring real answers to estimate the potential environmental impacts of digital devices at their EoL. The potential environmental burdens of EoLT are generally invisible when using the substitution because only the final results are shown. Table 4 summarizes information on the environmental burdens and avoided impacts and their sources, by EoL step or treatment, of each LCA analyzed. Human toxicity and ecotoxicity are the most critical impact categories for EoL.

None of the LCAs share information about the environmental impacts of the collection of WEEE. The closest information related to the collection is the transportation between the collection point and the EoLT factory, modeled in [36]. [36] emphasize that transport can have important environmental burdens due to fossil oil consumption, whereas [49, 50] find low environmental burdens for EoL transport for all impact categories.

[43] state that the EoL stage of LCD and LED monitors can have severe impacts on human health and the environment if not properly disposed of: they contain toxic substances such as benzene, cyano-group, brominated flame retardants, etc.. The authors also highlight that high concentrations of lead and brominated flame retardants are found in air, bottom, ash, dust, soil, water and sediments in WEEE recycling areas of the developing countries, in comparison with developed nations. For CRT monitor, they find that EoL contributes more than 30% freshwater aquatic ecotoxicity potential, freshwater sediment ecotoxicity potential and marine sediment ecotoxicity potential and more than 20% for malodours air, marine aquatic ecotoxicity potential. These contributions are higher than the use stage. For LED monitor, they also find higher contribution than the use stage for these impact categories. For LED monitors, they also find important impacts for acidification potential, unlike CRT and LCD.

As [36] highlight, recycling has a significant contribution regarding human toxicity and ecotoxicity because of the consumption of substances during refinery (nitric acid, sulfuric acid, hydrochloric acid and deoxidating agent). [53] state that recycling has environmental impacts due to dust, metals, gases and dioxins emissions, water use, or waste generation. In some countries, like Belgium, modern technologies in recycling plants, such as de-dusting plants, specific filters, wastewater treatment plants, and sprinkling plants, limit the environmental impacts. [53] find high burdens for terrestrial ecotoxicity, freshwater ecotoxicity, and marine ecotoxicity (between 3 to 7 % of the results), for the disposal stage which is recycling in Belgium. In the recovery process, [49, 50] find high environmental burdens for battery recycling and copper smelting.

EoL step or treatment	Severity of environ- mental burdens	Burdens sources	Importance of avoided impacts	Avoided impacts sources
Collection Transport	No data Rather low [48–50] or relatively high [36], depending on the studies	- Consumption of fos- sil oil [36]	Not relevant Not relevant	
Recycling	Possibly high for human toxicity and ecotoxicity [36, 37, 53] and haz- ardous waste [34]. Rather low for other impact categories	Consumption of toxic substances during refinery, release of dust, metals, gases and dioxins emissions, water use, or waste generation [53]	Possibly important for resource deple- tion, human health and ecotoxicity [39, 49, 50]	Recovery of materi- als during recycling [46, 49–52]. Mainly from gold, tin, cop- per and other met- als
Controlled landfilling	Rather low for human health [39] or high for human toxicity [36] and hazardous waste [34]	Minimum leak of toxic substances in the ecosystems [39]	Not relevant	-
Non controlled landfilling	Possibly high for human toxicity and ecotoxicity [36, 37]	Leak of toxic sub- stances in the ecosystems [36, 37]	Not relevant	-
Recovery	No data	-	No data	Recovery of energy or heat during incin- eration
Incineration without recov- ery	Possibly high for ecosystems quality [39]	Emissions into water, air and soil [39]	Not relevant	-
Reuse	No data	Production of the spare parts [53]	Relatively high for GWP [53]	Avoid the produc- tion of another equipment [53]
Informal recy- cling	Possibly high for ecotoxicity and human health [53]	Leak of toxic sub- stances in the ecosystems (cop- per, lead, tin, nickel, cadmium), toxic substances brominated flame retardants found in air, bottom, ash, dust, soil, water and sediments [43]	No data	-

 Table 4: Summary of environmental burdens and avoided impacts by EoL step or treatment

[53] find high avoided impacts for the reuse treatment in China. For GWP, the authors find that it avoids the production of 0,2 laptops. It is not possible to find precise information for the other impact categories because results are mixed with the recycling in Belgium.

The avoided impacts of the EoL come from the recovery of materials during recycling or from the energy recovery due to incineration. [46] cite ten metals that contribute notably to the environmental results: gold, silver, palladium, platinum, indium, cadmium, lead, tantalum, tin and copper. The higher environmental gain come from gold recycling [31, 46, 49–52], followed by tin and copper [46]. Indeed, the impacts associated with gold extraction are extremely polluting due to low environmental concentrations and extraction processes with irreversible consequences. According to [63], gold is one of the complex and/or refractory ores. [46] precise that the avoided impacts of EoLT is relatively small regarding climate change since it does not offset the dominant impacts in integrated circuit production, nor the casing since magnesium is not functionally recycled.

[39] find much lower impacts for landfilling than incineration. The authors model landfilling in a controlled landfill, which minimizes the release of toxic substances into the environment. Nevertheless, [36] point out that landfilling may be the most substantial factor leading to human toxicity, compared to the others EoLT (collection, disassembly, refinery processes for recycling, and incineration). Their example is the metals leak from landfill sites to the natural environment. [37] also highlight that EoLTs could severely impact human health and the ecosystems if they are poorly managed. PCs contain many parts with hazardous materials, such as brominated flame retardants, tin–lead soldering on PWB, polychlorinated biphenyl in the transformer, and mercury in the switch. [46] express that modern laptops are lead-free soldering, which reduces the toxicity impacts of landfilled laptops. They model the non-collected laptops disposed of in a controlled landfill, using ecoinvent processes for landfilling of aluminum, plastic and hazardous waste. However, we cannot observe the environmental impacts of their modeling because the results are mixed with the avoided impacts of recycling.

[53] argue that informal recycling happens in non-controlled conditions where workers apply crude methods such as acid baths with sodium cyanide, burning plastics, or manual disassembly of components. The authors model informal recycling in the Guiyu region (China), for a social assessment but not for the environmental assessment. The authors output that Guiyu region shows very high to high concentrations of several damaging substances. The concentration of copper, lead, tin, nickel, and cadmium in sediments of the discharge channel was 400 - 600 times higher than in sediments of uncontaminated rivers.

4.4.2 Results of the studies

To understand the potential environmental impacts of the digital devices, we collected information on each LCA analyzed. To this end, we gathered relative and absolute impacts data from each study for the following impact indicators: global warming potential (GWP), abiotic depletion potential fossils (ADPf), abiotic depletion potential elements (ADPe), human toxicity (HumTox), ecotoxicity (EcoTox) and acidification potential (AP). For example when results were given in a graph form only, we manually estimated the results. We did this for most studies (18 out of 26 LCAs). We could not extract EoL impact data for the following studies [32, 33, 37, 56]. Some studies make



Fig. 5: Results of EoL relative environmental impacts of the LCAs





(b) EoL ADP fossils relative impacts according to the collection rate



(c) EoL human toxicity relative impacts according to the collection rate



comparisons of digital devices [42–44, 46, 47]. In this case, we gathered environmental impacts for all the devices analyzed in the LCA. We could extract only GWP impacts even if all the LCAs are multi-criteria for the following studies [31, 41, 47]. GWP is the most common environmental impact indicator, included in each study and presented with more detail than others. Lastly, we could not normalize the results because of the variety of functional units and lack of time.

For each result, we kept the associated collection rate and the type of equipment. We chose to use the collection rate instead of the recycling rate because the recycling rate was not systematically provided. In Figure 5 and Figure 6, collection rate equals Uns are non specified values. Our collected data is presented in Figures 5 and 6.

Figure 5 presents the EoL relative environmental impacts for each LCA. The three sub-figures present the distribution of the EoL relative impacts according to the collection rate: Figure 5a for GWP, Figure 5b for APDf and Figure 5c for HumTox. We choose to present GWP, ADPf and HumTow because we found more data for them compared to the other environmental indicators. More generally, when the results are positive (>0%), the EoL generates environmental burdens on the impact assessed. Conversely, when the results are negative (<0%), the avoided impacts from the production of recycled material are significant and superior to the impacts of EoLT. We can observe a slight variation in the relative results of the studies for two environmental impact indicators: in Figure 5a GWP varies between -7,95% and +1,9% and in Figure 5b ADPf varies between -7.9% and +1.25%. We observe a significant variation of results for three environmental impact indicators: in Figure 5c HumTox varies between -77% and +70%, ADPe varies between -1260% and +0.12% and AP varies between -105% and +0,2%. The variation for EcoTox is between -10% and +27%. From Figure 5, we did not see a significant difference in EoL impacts depending on the collection rate or the type of digital equipment.

Figure 6 exhibits absolute GWP impacts results. We did not make a graph of absolute results for other impact categories because of the lack of unit standardization and by lack of data. To have a better view on the results, we settled limits on the graph, which excludes one point (-199 kg CO2e for the server Dell [51]). We notice that the majority of GWP absolute impacts results vary from 1,3 to -2,3 kg CO2eq., with non-negligible cluster of points around zero. Observations show that EoL impacts do not seem to be correlated to the type of equipment. Most devices have low absolute impacts, which was to be expected because of the use of substitution. The excluded point is a server, the heaviest in weight equipment recorded. The server generates the most potential avoided impacts. As the allocation is done with the material weight of the equipment, and the equipment is the largest, the burdens or avoided impacts are more substantial. This notable difference is evident with GWP (the most supplied indicator), ADPf and AP. Most other devices have tiny absolute impacts close to zero. Again, these results are explained with the substitution calculation, i.e. the calculation of the avoided impacts.



Fig. 6: Results of absolute GWP impacts according to the collection rate of the LCAs

4.5 Critical review

The ILCD Handbook (p.341) [62] formulates that the critical review is a one of the key features that assures the consistency of the LCA. This step is, therefore, mandatory to validate the scientific and technical LCA methodology and should be performed before the results are communicated. Only [34, 35] share the list of the fifty-six stakeholders involved in the critical review. [41, 51, 52] specify that a critical review was performed on their studies. [51, 52] precise the academic reviewer and share the critical review. statement in the appendixes. The other eighteen studies do not declare a critical review.

5 Discussion

Our review focuses on EoL modeling criteria in LCAs to understand how the EoL is modeled in multi-steps LCAs of digital equipment. We analyses EoL modeling criteria and verify if they are included in ETSI standard and ITU-T 1410 recommendation. Table 3 summarizes the main EoL criteria. The first part of this section considers EoL criteria expressed in the recommendations. The second part highlights these recommendation's limitations. The third part relates a temporal analysis of the LCAs. Then, the fourth part analyses the EoL stage regarding the other life cycle stages in an LCA. The last part evokes the limitations of this review.

5.1 EoL modeling criteria

LCAs should express the distribution of impacts between the systems and the type of loop, when recycling is modeled. Although the ETSI standard and ITU-T 1410

recommendation express this point with the expression of the type of approach:100/0, 50/50 or 0/100, the definitions given by the ITU-T 1410 recommendation are not precise enough and misleading. For example, regarding the 0/100 allocation, it is stated that it "allocates 0% of the primary raw material acquisition processes to the studied product system, i.e., 100% recycled raw material is assumed as input to the studied life cycle". It follows, in their examples, a non-inclusion of the impact of the primary raw material and a partial inclusion of the EoL impact (depending on the material recovery efficiency), which is nonsense. Furthermore, this allocation should be based on market specificity of each raw material, which is never mentioned. Regarding the complexity of EEE it might become a challenge. Whatsoever, most LCAs do not follow it (22 out of 26 LCAs), which brings large modeling uncertainties. ETSI standard and ITU-T 1410 recommendation indicate a few rules for the distribution of impacts between raw material recycling and raw material acquisition: all elementary flows and environmental impacts should be allocated to the life cycle that generates them. LCA can be mixed with other approaches, depending on the material recovered and assessed. [31] apply a 50/50 approach for gold recycling, ignoring to express its approach for other recycled materials as well. It brings uncertainties for other materials. With no expression of the type of loop and distribution of impacts, there is a risk of double accounting of the net avoided impacts [46]. To avoid these uncertainties, PEF methodology includes the A factor in the circular footprint formula of material, depending on the market situation, to distribute the impacts between systems and R2 for the substitution point and the displacement of impacts [64]. If LCA practitioners share the distribution of impacts between systems, they create a transparent and clear modeling. So far, most LCAs of digital equipment do not publish this information. The type of loop is also not expressed as well (see Section 4.2.2), which generates uncertainties in the reuse of recovered materials. It is unclear if the material can be reused for the production of the same type of materials.

LCAs should collect primary data when possible. Primary data collection for EoL is complex as it depends on WEEE actors outside of the LCA practitioner's activities. [47] state that secondary data from econvent for electronics may be outdated as they were produced in the 2000s. ETSI standard and ITU-T 1410 recommendations encourage primary data collection for all EoLTs except landfilling, incineration and recovery. It is strongly advocated for recycling materials and specific and hazardous components. Seven studies out of the thirteen published after both recommendations mixed the collection of primary and secondary data for the EoL stage. Nevertheless, none express which data is collected for the EoL, rarely the time and geographical perimeters. The only information cited is the source. On the twelve LCAs of the review that use a mix of primary and secondary data for the EoLTs, only [36] detail which primary data is collected (collection, disassembly and pre-manipulation processes) and its data source (Korea Computer Recycling). [34, 35] express the time and geographical perimeters. Primary data could the scenario distribution for the WEEE stream or the studied equipment, collection rates, the material recovery rates by material, etc.. To complete ICT's recommendations for LCA, we therefore encourage to share the data, its source, its temporal time coverage and its geographical perimeters for primary quality data. As EoL is assessed as a stage with no relevant impacts in most LCAs (see Section

4.4.2), the long process of collecting primary data collection for EoLT can be seen as less useful than other stages [41].

LCAs should consider the collection and transportation processes recommended by ETSI and ITU-T 14140. The collection process is never described, even though it can be from multiple collecting points (suppliers, municipalities, etc.), before going to the specific EoLT. The process is often reduced to transportation from the collection point to the EoLT location. It is unclear whether the EoL transportation is integrated in [45]: The authors model the transportation stage without explaining what is modeled for it. [43] do not consider EoL transportation due to lack of data and the complexity of transportation system. [44] do not evoke transportation. Transport modeling is often neglected, as is the collection (see Section 4.1.3). [65] perform a study to evaluate the transport modeling in LCA recycling. The authors found that collection transport has fewer impacts than other e-waste treatment activities, even though the transportation impacts can be relevant for a few environmental categories. [36] also highlight the importance of EoL transportation. This EoL step should be considered. In PEF methodology [64], collection and transport are considered in EoL stage. Transportation data are usually included in LCA datasets for landfilling, recycling and incineration (Annexes 1 to 2). Depending on the geographical perimeter, LCA datasets may not reflect the e-waste situation of the studied perimeter. Modeling collection and transport should not be neglected in LCAs.

LCAs should be consistent and more straightforward regarding impacts and calculation reporting when the substitution approach. As underlined by [66], substitution modeling is often poorly motivated or inadequately described. The authors propose a framework for the systematic reporting of information. It includes waste-specific (physical) resource potential, recovery efficiency, and displacement rate. We notice in the review that the substitution approach invisibilizes EoL environmental impacts because the EoL results are displayed as final results only (potential burdens - potential avoided impacts) (see Section 4.2.2). Detailing the share of the potential burdens and the potential avoided impacts is a first doable step for assessment transparency. Then, sharing the distribution of impacts between system and type of loop is essential to understand allocation modeling. It should be transparent as well, like explained in the beginning of this Section. And sharing the avoided impacts calculation, as in [46], helps determine the avoided impacts of EoLT recycling for each material modeled. Finally, the substitution approach is generally used in consequential LCA (CLCA), which is employed to demonstrate differences in impacts when there is a change in the system or to analyze the consequences of a decision [67, 68]. However, the LCAs selected are attributional LCA (ALCA). This draws an environmental balance of the digital equipment at a certain time and does not assess the consequences of a change or a decision, in which the avoided impacts of the change or decision are modeled. This choice of using the substitution approach (a CLCA approach) in an ALCA is a special case defined in (p.354) [62]. The substitution approach suggests that the EoLT for the digital equipment are recycling and/or energy recovery, which is in most cases far from reality if the equipment goes to an undocumented stream. We encourage LCA practitioner to be consistent and transparent for the modeling choices and results, when the substitution is employed.

LCAs should indicate the material recovery rates, the fate of the recycling residues and the purity and quality of secondary raw material. Regarding the material loss during recycling, few studies share the material recovery rates with the list of materials modeled for the EoL (see Section 4.1.3). Both pieces of information are crucial for conducting a comprehensive impact assessment. In PEF methodology [64], they are part of the circular footprint formula. The ETSI standard and ITU-T 1410 recommendation express that the list of the most important materials modeled for recycling should be shared. However, we need to find out how the importance is defined, and only the list of materials modeled is not sufficient information to understand the model. Material loss and recovery depend on the specific recycling process used [69] or the type of material [55]. Recycling rates for certain metals used in digital equipment manufacturing can be less than 1% [70]. It is therefore necessary to provide the list of materials recycled and their recovery rates. Another important neglected point in the EoL modeling is the recycling residues fate. A few LCAs express it and model the residues as landfilled or incinerated or recovered. By doing so, the recycling residues fate modeling is explicit. To go further, [71] define types of downcycling: reduction of material quality, suitability only for less-demanding applications, use in less-valuable products, loss of alloying elements, a different material system with no functional use, the need of additional virgin material. By expressing the material recovery rates and the purity and quality of secondary raw material, downcycling can be modeled and avoid the modeling of the material for the same type of use.

LCAs should express the recycling steps of hazardous components like PCB, PWB or battery. ETSI standard and ITU-T 1410 recommendation do not detail these steps. Indeed, none of the studies inform about the considered recycling steps. After pre-processing, hazardous components are removed from the equipment and may be removed from the modeling scope. It seems essential to produce a comprehensive path for each hazardous component. If recycling is modeled for the hazardous component, LCAs should express: the amount of secondary material production or the material recovery rates, the potential environmental impacts associated with the recycling steps, and the fate of the recycling residues.

LCAs should consider the informal flows. Providing the collection rate like [31, 46, 53] helps to model EoLT distribution and informal flows. When informal e-waste flows are considered, they are modeled as controlled landfills or as incineration with energy recovery. Controlled landfills modeling for informal flows modeling is far from reality. As [8, 16, 20, 53, 72–75] show, informal flows can lead to informal recycling and therefore cause severe environmental damages. Controlled landfills as informal flows modeling underestimates environmental impacts. Incineration with energy recovery as informal flows modeling is also far from reality for the same reason. Only [53] model the informal flows as informal recycling in Guiyu (China), the Chinese centre for illegal recycling, but do not give environmental results due to lack of data. [72, 73, 75] are a reminder of the extent of the unregulated WEEE impacts. Informal flows affect the populations and the environment (contamination of water, soil, dust and severe health problems) from treatments carried out without proper sanitary conditions. This contamination comes from the hazardous substances contained in the digital equipment: bromine (Br), cadmium (Cd), copper (Cu), lead (Pb),

yttrium (Y) and barium (Ba). Modeling informal recycling could be made by considering the share of non-collected WEEE and by collecting primary data. As 77.7% of e-waste is not properly collected at a global level [2], digital e-waste is likely no exception. Considering the collection rate and the informal treatments in the scenarios of EoL would be closer to reality. [5, 6] indicate the distribution of EoL informal treatments; it can be treated with residual waste bins, by the metal waste sector, illegally exported, unknown, etc. Informal recycling is performed with non-controlled treatment methods such as manual disassembly, open incineration, or acid baths [53]. In 2019, 66% of the PCBs e-waste have an unknown fate; they are unmanaged or taken care of by the informal sector [76]. [16] model artisanal mining, informal recycling, in LCA of discarded cellphones and measure the concentration of seventeen metals of cellphone components for the ash of open incineration, to assess ecotoxicity and human health. They find that PCBs have the most significant ecotoxicity risks, followed by nickel and cobalt in batteries. [20] model open dumps in LCA of laptops and computers in Mexico and. They find major for human toxicity potential, abiotic depletion potential, stratospheric ozone depletion potential, photochemical ozone creation potential, and non-negligible GWP. The following impacts categories should be assessed for the EoL informal treatments: human toxicity, freshwater ecotoxicity, marine ecotoxicity, terrestrial ecotoxicity, abiotic depletion potential, stratospheric ozone depletion potential, photochemical ozone creation potential, and GWP (see Section 4.4.1, [16, 20, 75]). In addition, illegal recycling is motivated by the recovery of valuable, non-hazardous substances and raw materials from electronic devices [53]. Laws are not applied. Severe social impacts are also present: child labourers, no trade unions, no minimum wage, no safety measures, or no regulation on working hours. We deeply encourage LCA practitioners to consider informal flow modeling by expressing the collection rate and model the informal treatments [53].

LCAs should consider to develop a hybrid methodology based on material flow analysis (MFA) and LCA to assess the environmental impacts of EoL. Since allocation is based on weight, particularly material weight, using MFA can improve the accuracy of impact assessments by quantifying material flows in equipment through different EoLT scenarios. A few studies use firstly MFA to perform an environmental assessment of the EoL of digital equipment [18, 77–79]. [79] combine MFA with LCA to assess the environmental EoL impacts of smartphone printed circuit boards in Malaysia and Australia. [77] combine MFA and LCA to assess the benefit of WEEE recycling, whereas [78] combine MFA with carbon footprint methodology to assess the quantities of greenhouse gases emitted by WEEE flows in the UK. [18] combines the MFA with the Cumulative Exergy Extraction from the Natural Environment method to assess the resources saved between two scenarios for desktops and laptops in Belgium. MFA helps to understand the quantity by EoLT, especially recycling. Including MFA would precise the distribution for materials at the EoL of digital equipment by treatment. From MFA, LCA assesses the environmental impacts for each treatment. Besides, few studies performed MFA to assess the amount of recovered material of discarded digital equipment in informal recycling sites [80-82]. These studies may help to model informal EoLT.

5.2 Temporal analysis

The publications of recommendations for ICT's LCAs, the ETSI standard and ITU-T 1410 recommendation, have not encouraged the publications of LCAs complying with our research criteria, as Figure 1 shows. Five out of thirteen LCAs are on smartphones, two on laptops, two on TVs, two on computers and two server (one is server + computer). Before the recommendations, other types of equipment was dominant in LCAs such as computer monitors and desktop computer. The systems studied in the LCAs reflect the general consumption of ICT users.

Regarding the publications, the five OEM from ICT manufacturer were released after the recommendations. Five publications are also from journals, one from a conference and one is a master thesis. One crucial recommendation for EoL modeling is not followed: expressing the distribution of impacts between system when recycling is modeled and the type of loop. This helps to understand the modeling choice, the EoL impact results and the fate of recycled materials generated by the studied system.

ETSI and ITU-T 1410 recommend to collect primary data if possible for specific EoLT. LCAs do not follow this recommendation either. Only 3 out of the 13 LCAs collect primary data. There is no other information except the source.

Other recommendations are partly followed. Ten out of thirteen LCAs give a list of the most important recycled materials, indicating an improvement in modeling (see Section 4.1.3). LCAs published before ETSI and ITU-T 1410 share tend to provide less information on the list of materials recovered. The material recycling rates is a bit less shared (8 out of 13 LCAs), but it has been a large improvement. Before the recommendations, only two studies shared the material recycling rates. There is almost no difference for the treatment for hazardous and specific components. Six expressed it after ETSI and ITU-T 1410 and four before. Usually, the steps of the hazardous components treatments are not specified.

Concerning EoL transportation modeling, six out of thirteen LCAs share the information but it was not complete. Four do not share precise information but consider it and three do not consider EoL transportation. This recommendation is partly followed by LCAs.

In conclusion, it is unclear whether the ETSI standard and ITU-T are being followed in LCAs, as there are no noticeable changes except for the inclusion of a list of the main materials recycled.

5.3 EoL regarding the other life cycle stages

As explained in the introduction, EoL is often less described, neglected, with lower impacts than the other life cycle stages. Several factors may influence these low results for the EoL: the choice of scenarios for EoLT, the EoL allocation procedure with the use of the substitution and avoided impacts approach, the distribution of impacts between the system for the recycled materials and the choice of the impact categories.

This stage, compared to others, starts with hypothesis for EoLT scenarios, often based on the computational tool, the database or the literature. These modeling hypotheses may be arbitrary and depend on the LCA practitioners. For example, modeling a scenario with 100% recycling seems very optimistic when there is more than 77% of undocumented WEEE at a global level in 2022 [2] or around 47% in France in 2021 [83]. A few studies try to comply with reality, either by providing the collection rate [36, 46, 53], or describing the distribution of EoLT scenarios [34, 35], or by modeling different EoL scenarios in which there is always one closer from reality [37, 39]. To continue on the collection importance, it might be also far from reality to model that all collected e-waste are going to be recycled. For instance, in France, on the 53% of e-waste collected, around 75% are recycled, 12% are incinerated with energy recovery, 11% are disposed and 2% reuse [83].

It is also crucial to assess multiple environmental impacts to understand the EoL compared to other life cycle stages. Table 4 shows the burdens and avoided impacts by EoLT. [43] is a great example. The authors found major EoL relative and absolute impacts, that are not assessed in any other studies, for freshwater sediment ecotoxicity potential, malodorous air, marine aquatic ecotoxicity potential, marine sediment ecotoxicity potential. These impact categories and freshwater aquatic ecotoxicity are more important for the EoL than the use stage. [36] find that human toxicity has the largest impact for the EoL regarding all other stages. In this study, ecotoxicy is the second largest contributor after the pre-manufacturing. [37] find that the EoL dominates the impacts for freshwater aquatic ecotoxicity. However, these LCAs do not share their EoL allocation procedure. In most LCAs, EoL is either invisible, with impacts close to zero [31, 32, 40, 41, 44, 45, 47, 54, 55], or reduces the burdens of the associated impact categories with the avoided impacts approach. This is obvious for the depletion of resource in [42, 46, 48–50], for human toxicity in [39, 46]. In these last twelve studies cited, most LCAs employed the substitution with the avoided approach impacts and only two of them explain the modeling choice for the distribution of impacts between systems and the type of loop. A large proportion of the studies also do not share the EoL allocation procedure. We are not able to estimate the relative impacts of the EoL with the substitution approach and no explanation on the point of substitution and distribution of impacts.

5.4 Limits of the study

We have identified several methodological and results limits for this review.

Regarding the methodological limits, we have identified a few key points. Firstly, to perform the search process, we used only our knowledge and a limited number of keywords on a limited number of platforms (scopus and Google Scholar) and search engines (ecosia, duckduckgo, google). Keywords for digital equipment were limited to the most used and known digital devices and keywords for environmental impacts were limited to the synonym of LCA. Based on this, we conducted a snowballing search. This method may have caused us to overlook some LCAs. Regarding the LCIA methods, there is no study using PEF, which is the European method recommended since 2021, with another approach for EoL modeling. We believe it is a limitation to not have found LCAs using PEF and complying with our research criteria.

The diversity of devices is also limited due to the lack of studies found; eight types of digital devices do not represent the diversity of digital devices nowadays by neglecting networks, data centers and Internet of Things (IoT) devices. Professional ICT equipment are still missing of the LCAs landscape. Data center and telecommunication networks are the other ICT's pillars [84, 85], and there is no public LCAs for these devices.

In addition, one other limitation is the geographical perimeter. We did not restrict the location of the LCAs, but yet fifteen of our studies are European. It is a significant limitation because many EoL modeling criteria vary according to the country or continent: the WEEE system, the collection rate, the recycling rate, the computational tool, the data source, etc. For example, there is a clear difference in EoLT between developed and developing countries, and the same is true for the collection rate. Data usually considers geographical and temporal perimeters. Therefore, it is essential to respect these conditions.

6 Conclusion

This review provides an overview of the EoL modeling of digital devices in full LCAs. We began by summarizing the main findings on the LCAs analyzed. Then, we focused on findings related to EoL modeling. Next, we identified the criteria that influence the EoL environmental results. Following this, we highlight the missing elements of EoL modeling. Finally, we propose recommendations for further research.

We reviewed eight types of digital devices, with mostly household items (smartphones, laptops, displays, desktop computers, IoT, etc.) and one professional item (server). The majority of LCAs analyzed are from Europe and describe rather poorly the EoL. EoL data are mainly secondary (from the LCA database or LCA computational tool) and outdated [47].

This paper examined the EoL modeling and choices. There is no clear consensus on how to model the EoL stage in an LCA, neither in the guides nor in the standards [68]. The majority of studies employ a substitution approach with recycling and the avoided impacts approach. The substitution approach leads to several limitations: invisibilization of environmental impacts of EoLT and an optimistic scenario for EoL with underestimations of potential environmental impacts. The lack of data and the high uncertainties of what may be the final disposal for the digital equipment [4] induces an over-simplification of the EoL scenarios. Moreover, the uncertainties are also influenced by variations in human behaviours and/or variations according to the geographical perimeters [14]. Furthermore, as the EoL environmental results are usually assessed as low or very low, it is hard to detect which criteria influence the environmental results. As the EoL is the only life cycle stage where avoided impacts are input into the model, this can vastly reduce the environmental burdens of this stage. This reversal of consequences is due to the choices made in allocating the EoL. Nevertheless, we can express a few criteria that have an influence: the allocation method with the implementation of the substitution approach, the distribution of EoLT scenarios, the list of materials recovered during recycling and their material recovery rates, and the transport modeling.

ETSI standard and ITU-T recommendations propose guidelines to model the EoL. One primary EoL modeling criterion is not systematically applied: the type of loop and distribution of impacts between systems when recycling is modeling are rarely given. Collecting primary data is also not followed. Transport modeling is partly applied, as the treatment of specific and hazardous components and the list of material recycled and their recycling rates. Missing elements in ETSI standard and ITU-T 1410 recommendations and these studies are: (1) purity and quality of the recycled materials, (2) fate of recycling residues, (3) informal flows modeling, (4) clear and transparent reporting when substitution is used, with the expression of environmental burdens and avoided impacts and the formulae for the EoL impact assessment, and (5) detailed description of the fate of specific components containing hazardous materials.

Section 5 mentions most of our leads for EoL modeling improvements in LCAs of digital equipment. Our first recommendation is detailed reporting when the substitution approach is employed. We then recommend including the environmental impacts of the non-collected digital equipment, also called informal flows. We also highly recommend performing an LCA with primary data for the EoL and opening it. Lastly, we recommend developing a hybrid methodology based on MFA and LCA to assess the environmental impacts of EoL. Such studies to evaluate the environmental impacts of digital WEEE are still rare today.

Supplementary information. Supplementary data to this article can be found online.

Declarations

The authors declare no competing interests.

References

- [1] EU: Call for evidence Waste electrical and electronic evaluating the EU rules (2022).equipment https://ec. europa.eu/info/law/better-regulation/have-your-say/initiatives/ 13420-Waste-from-electrical-and-electronic-equipment-evaluating-the-EU-rules en
- [2] Balde, C.P., Kuehr, R., Yamamoto, T., McDonald, R., D'Angelo, E., Althaf, S., Bel, G., Deubzer, O., Fernandez-Cubillo, E., Forti, V., Gray, V., Herat, S., Honda, S., Iattoni, G., Khetriwal, D.S., Cortemiglia, V., Lobuntsova, Y., Nnorom, I., Pralat, N., Wagner, M.: Global E-waste Monitor 2024. Technical report, International Telecom- munication Union (ITU) and United Nations Institute for Training and Research (UNITAR), Geneva/Bonn. (2024)
- [3] Forti, V., Balde, C., Kuehr, R., Bel, G.: The Global E-waste Monitor 2020 (2020). https://ewastemonitor.info/ Accessed 2022-10-13
- [4] Arushanyan, Y., Ekener-Petersen, E., Finnveden, G.: Lessons learned Review of LCAs for ICT products and services. Computers in Industry 65(2), 211–234 (2014) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2013.10.003. Accessed 2023-02-24

- [5] Rochat, D., Haarman, A., Raverdy, E.: Étude gisement DEEE Rapport de phase 2 – Modélisations et plan d'action (DEEE ménagers. Technical report, Sofies (2021). https://www.ecosystem.eco/upload/media/download/ 0001/02/843c4e4bf0564beea5eadf711b7866f7433b9145.pdf
- [6] Huisman, J., Botezatu, I., Herreras, L., Liddane, M., Hintsa, J., Cortemiglia, V., Leroy, P., Vermeersch, E., Mohanty, S., Brink, S., et al.: Countering WEEE illegal trade (CWIT) summary report, market assessment, legal analysis, crime analysis and recommendations roadmap. Technical report, Lyon (2015)
- [7] Guillaume, B., Benjamin, D., Vincent, C.: Review of the Impact of IT on the Environment and Solution with a Detailed Assessment of the Associated Gray Literature. Sustainability 14(4), 2457 (2022) https://doi.org/10.3390/su14042457
 Accessed 2024-06-18
- [8] Murthy, V., Ramakrishna, S.: A Review on Global E-Waste Management: Urban Mining towards a Sustainable Future and Circular Economy. Sustainability 14(2), 647 (2022) https://doi.org/10.3390/su14020647. Accessed 2023-12-18
- [9] Scharnhorst, W.: Life cycle assessment in the telecommunication industry: A review. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 13(1), 75–86 (2008) https://doi.org/10.1065/lca2006.11.285. Accessed 2024-06-18
- [10] Andrae, A.S.G., Andersen, O.: Life cycle assessments of consumer electronics are they consistent? The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 15(8), 827–836 (2010) https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-010-0206-1. Accessed 2024-07-03
- [11] Teehan, P., Kandlikar, M.: Sources of Variation in Life Cycle Assessments of Desktop Computers. Journal of Industrial Ecology 16, 182–194 (2012) https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-9290.2011.00431.x . Accessed 2022-11-22
- [12] Clément, L.-P.P.-V.P., Jacquemotte, Q.E.S., Hilty, L.M.: Sources of variation in life cycle assessments of smartphones and tablet computers. Environmental Impact Assessment Review 84, 106416 (2020) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar. 2020.106416. Accessed 2022-11-22
- [13] Yao, M.A., Higgs, T.G., Cullen, M.J., Stewart, S., Brady, T.A.: Comparative Assessment of Life Cycle Assessment Methods Used for Personal Computers. Environmental Science & Technology 44(19), 7335–7346 (2010) https://doi.org/ 10.1021/es903297k . Accessed 2024-06-18
- [14] Suckling, J., Lee, J.: Redefining scope: the true environmental impact of smartphones? The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 20(8), 1181–1196 (2015) https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-015-0909-4. Accessed 2023-02-24
- [15] ITU: L.1410: Methodology for environmental life cycle assessments of information

and communication technology goods, networks and services (2014)

- [16] Hibbert, K., Ogunseitan, O.A.: Risks of toxic ash from artisanal mining of discarded cellphones. Journal of Hazardous Materials 278, 1–7 (2014) https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014.05.089. Accessed 2024-06-13
- [17] Bian, J., Bai, H., Li, W., Yin, J., Xu, H.: Comparative environmental life cycle assessment of waste mobile phone recycling in China. Journal of Cleaner Production 131, 209–218 (2016) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.05.047 . Accessed 2024-06-13
- [18] Van Eygen, E., De Meester, S., Tran, H.P., Dewulf, J.: Resource savings by urban mining: The case of desktop and laptop computers in Belgium. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 107, 53–64 (2016) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec. 2015.10.032 . Accessed 2023-02-27
- [19] Yao, L., Liu, T., Chen, X., Mahdi, M., Ni, J.: An integrated method of lifecycle assessment and system dynamics for waste mobile phone management and recycling in China. Journal of Cleaner Production 187, 852–862 (2018) https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.03.195 . Accessed 2024-06-13
- [20] Alcántara-Concepción, V., Gavilán-García, A., Gavilán-García, I.C.: Environmental impacts at the end of life of computers and their management alternatives in México. Journal of Cleaner Production 131, 615–628 (2016) https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jclepro.2016.04.125 . Accessed 2024-06-13
- [21] Song, X., Zhang, C., Yuan, W., Yang, D.: Life-cycle energy use and GHG emissions of waste television treatment system in China. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 128, 470–478 (2018) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.09.004 . Accessed 2024-06-13
- [22] Fritz, B., Aichele, C., Schmidt, M.: Environmental impact of high-value gold scrap recycling. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 25(10), 1930–1941 (2020) https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-020-01809-6. Accessed 2023-12-18
- [23] Ismail, H., Hanafiah, M.M.: An overview of LCA application in WEEE management: Current practices, progress and challenges. Journal of Cleaner Production 232, 79–93 (2019) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.05.329. Accessed 2024-06-18
- [24] ISO: Environmental Management Life Cycle Assessment Principles and Framework - ISO 14040, Geneva, Switzerland (2006)
- [25] ISO: Environmental Management Life Cycle Assessment Requirements and Guidelines - ISO 14044, Geneva, Switzerland (2006)

- [26] Standard, E.: Environmental Engineering (EE); Methodology for environmental Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) goods, networks and services (2014). https://www.etsi.org/deliver/etsi_ es/203100_203199/203199/01.03.00_50/es_203199v010300m.pdf
- [27] ITU: L.1440: Methodology for environmental impact assessment of information and communication technologies at city level (2015)
- [28] Arcep/ADEME Technical experts committee on measuring the environmental impact of digital, technologies: Assessment of the environmental impacts of the ICT sector: methodological gap analysis. Technical report (2023)
- [29] Conference Ranks, url = http://www.conference ranks.com/, accessed = 2024-07-04
- [30] Scimago Journal & Country Rank, url = https://www.scimagojr.com/, accessed = 2024-07-04
- [31] Ercan, M., Malmodin, J., Bergmark, P., Kimfalk, E., Nilsson, E.: Life Cycle Assessment of a Smartphone. In: Proceedings of ICT for Sustainability 2016. Atlantis Press, Amsterdam, the Netherlands (2016). https://doi.org/10. 2991/ict4s-16.2016.15 . http://www.atlantis-press.com/php/paper-details.php? id=25860375 Accessed 2023-01-04
- [32] Tekwawa, M., Miyamoto, S., Inaba, A.: Life cycle assessment; an approach to environmentally friendly PCs. In: Proceedings of the 1997 IEEE International Symposium on Electronics and the Environment. ISEE-1997, pp. 125–130. IEEE, San Francisco, CA, USA (1997). https://doi.org/10.1109/ISEE.1997.605287 . http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/605287/ Accessed 2023-08-22
- [33] Kim, S., Hwang, T., Overcash, M.: Life Cycle Assessment Study of Color Computer Monitor. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment (2001)
- [34] Socolof, M.L., Overly, J.G., Kincaid, L.E., Geibig, J.R.: Desktop Computer Displays: A Life-Cycle Assessment - Volume 1. Technical report (December 2001)
- [35] Socolof, M.L., Overly, J.G., Geibig, J.R.: Environmental life-cycle impacts of CRT and LCD desktop computer displays. Journal of Cleaner Production 13(13-14), 1281–1294 (2005) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2005.05.014 . Accessed 2023-12-05
- [36] Choi, B.-C., Shin, H.-S., Lee, S.-Y., Hur, T.: Life Cycle Assessment of a Personal Computer and its Effective Recycling Rate (7 pp). The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 11(2), 122–128 (2006) https://doi.org/10.1065/lca2004.12.
 196 Accessed 2023-02-24

- [37] Duan, H., Eugster, M., Hischier, R., Streicher-Porte, M., Li, J.: Life cycle assessment study of a Chinese desktop personal computer. Science of The Total Environment 407(5), 1755–1764 (2009) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008. 10.063. Accessed 2023-02-27
- [38] Hischier, R., Baudin, I.: LCA study of a plasma television device. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 15(5), 428–438 (2010) https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11367-010-0169-2. Accessed 2023-02-27
- [39] Song, Q., Wang, Z., Li, J., Zeng, X.: Life cycle assessment of TV sets in China: A case study of the impacts of CRT monitors. Waste Management 32(10), 1926–1936 (2012) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2012.05.007 . Accessed 2023-12-18
- [40] Grzesik-Wojtysiak, K., Kukliński, G.: Screening life cycle assessment of a laptop used in Poland. Environment Protection Engineering 39(3) (2013) https://doi. org/10.37190/epe130304 . Accessed 2022-11-22
- [41] Moberg, A., Borggren, C., Ambell, C., Finnveden, G., Guldbrandsson, F., Bondesson, A., Malmodin, J., Bergmark, P.: Simplifying a life cycle assessment of a mobile phone. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 19(5), 979–993 (2014) https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-014-0721-6. Accessed 2022-11-22
- [42] Hischier, R., Achachlouei, M.A., Hilty, L.M.: Evaluating the sustainability of electronic media: Strategies for life cycle inventory data collection and their implications for LCA results. Environmental Modelling & Software 56, 27–36 (2014) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2014.01.001 . Accessed 2023-02-24
- [43] Bhakar, V., Agur, A., Digalwar, A.K., Sangwan, K.S.: Life Cycle Assessment of CRT, LCD and LED Monitors. Procedia CIRP 29, 432–437 (2015) https://doi. org/10.1016/j.procir.2015.02.003. Accessed 2024-06-29
- [44] Hischier, R.: Life cycle assessment study of a field emission display television device. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 20(1), 61–73 (2015) https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-014-0806-2. Accessed 2023-02-24
- [45] Subramanian, K., Yung, W.K.C.: Life cycle assessment study of an integrated desktop device -comparison of two information and communication technologies: Desktop computers versus all-in-ones. Journal of Cleaner Production 156, 828– 837 (2017) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.04.089. Accessed 2024-06-25
- [46] André, H., Ljunggren Söderman, M., Nordelöf, A.: Resource and environmental impacts of using second-hand laptop computers: A case study of commercial reuse. Waste Management 88, 268–279 (2019) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2019. 03.050. Accessed 2023-08-07
- [47] Loubet, P., Vincent, A., Collin, A., Dejous, C., Ghiotto, A., Jego, C.: Life cycle

assessment of ICT in higher education: a comparison between desktop and single-board computers. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 28(3), 255–273 (2023) https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-022-02131-z . Accessed 2023-08-07

- [48] Proske, M., Clemm, C., Richter, N.: Life cycle assessment of the Fairphone 2. Technical report, Berlin: Fraunhofer IZM (2016)
- [49] Proske, M., Sánchez, D., Clemm, C., Baur, S.-J.: Life cycle assessment of the Fairphone 3, 69 (2020)
- [50] Sanchez, D., Proske, M., Baur, S.-J.: Life cycle assessment of the Fairphone 4. Technical report, Berlin: Fraunhofer IZM (2022)
- [51] Herrmann, C.: Life Cycle Assessment of Dell R740. Technical report, Dell Technologies Inc (2019). https://www.delltechnologies.com/asset/en-us/products/ servers/technical-support/Full_LCA_Dell_R740.pdf
- [52] Herrmann: Life Cycle Assessment of Lattitude 7300. Technical report, Dell Technologies Inc (2019). https://www.delltechnologies.com/asset/en-us/products/laptops-and-2-in-1s/technical-support/full-lca-latitude7300-anniversary-edition.pdf
- [53] Ciroth, A., Franze, J.: LCA of an Ecolabeled Notebook : Consideration of Social and Environmental Impacts Along the Entire Life Cycle. Lulu Com, Place of publication not identified (2011). OCLC: 942170227. https://www.greendelta.com/ wp-content/uploads/2017/03/LCA_laptop_final.pd
- [54] Güvendik, M.: From Smartphone to Futurephone : Assessing the environmental impacts of different circular economy scenarios of a smartphone using LCA. Technical report, Delft University of Technology and Leiden University (2014)
- [55] Van Galen, J.: The environmental impact of reusing iPhones : A case study looking into the environmental benefits of reusing iPhones through Twig. Technical report, Faculty of Geosciences, University of Utrecht (July 2023)
- [56] Louis, J.-N., Calo, A., Leiviskä, K., Pongrácz, E.: Environmental Impacts and Benefits of Smart Home Automation: Life Cycle Assessment of Home Energy Management System. IFAC-PapersOnLine 48(1), 880–885 (2015) https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ifacol.2015.05.158. Accessed 2023-12-05
- [57] European Commission-Joint Research Centre Institute for Environment and Sustainability: International Reference Life Cycle Data System (ILCD) Handbook: Recommendations for Life Cycle Impact Assessment in the European context, Eur 24571 en edn. First edition. Publications Office of the European Union, ??? (2011). https://eplca.jrc.ec.europa.eu/uploads/ ILCD-Recommendation-of-methods-for-LCIA-def.pdf

- [58] Buchert, M., Manhart, A., Bleher, D., Pingel, D.: Recycling critical raw materials from waste electronic equipment. Technical report, Oeko-Institut e.V., Darmstadt (February 2012). http://www.resourcefever.org/publications/reports/ Recycling%20critical%20raw%20materials%20from%20waste%20electronic% 20equipment.pdf
- [59] Jover, M., Borie, M., Moriceau, S.: Equipements électriques et électroniques : données 2020 (2020). https://librairie.ademe.fr/dechets-economie-circulaire/ 5191-equipements-electriques-et-electroniques-donnees-2020.html Accessed 2022-10-24
- [60] Oliveira, C., Bellopede, R., Tori, A., Marini, P.: Study of Metal Recovery from Printed Circuit Boards by Physical-Mechanical Treatment Processes. In: International Conference on Raw Materials and Circular Economy, p. 121. MDPI, ??? (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/materproc2021005121 . https://www.mdpi.com/ 2673-4605/5/1/121 Accessed 2023-02-27
- [61] Le Guern, Y., Petiot, C., Schloesing, E.: Mode de prise en compte de la fin de vie lors de la réalisation d'analyses de cycle de vie (ACV) « produits ». Etat de l'Art. Technical report, RECORD (2011)
- [62] European Commission. Joint Research Centre. Institute for Environment and Sustainability.: International Reference Life Cycle Data System (ILCD) Handbook :general Guide for Life Cycle Assessment : Detailed guidance. Publications Office, LU (2010). https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2788/38479 Accessed 2023-01-06
- [63] SystExt: Controverses minières : Pour en finir avec certaines contrevérités sur la mine et les filières minérales (2022)
- [64] EU: Commission Recommendation (EU) 2021/2279 of 15 December 2021 on the use of the Environmental Footprint methods to measure and communicate the life cycle environmental performance of products and organisations (2021)
- [65] Arduin, R., Charbuillet, C., Perry, N.: LCA of recycling chains: influence of transport modelling, p. 6 (2018). https://hal.science/hal-01837085
- [66] Vadenbo, C., Hellweg, S., Astrup, T.F.: Let's Be Clear(er) about Substitution: A Reporting Framework to Account for Product Displacement in Life Cycle Assessment. Journal of Industrial Ecology 21(5), 1078–1089 (2017) https://doi.org/10. 1111/jiec.12519 . Accessed 2024-06-25
- [67] Schaubroeck, T., Schaubroeck, S., Heijungs, R., Zamagni, A., Brandão, M., Benetto, E.: Attributional & Consequential Life Cycle Assessment: Definitions, Conceptual Characteristics and Modelling Restrictions. Sustainability 13(13), 7386 (2021) https://doi.org/10.3390/su13137386. Accessed 2023-02-27

- [68] Ekvall, T., Björklund, A., Sandin, G., Jelse, K., Lagergren, J., Rydberg, M.: Modeling recycling in life cycle assessment. Technical report, IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute (2020)
- [69] Fairphone: Fairphone's Report on Recyclability : Does modularity contribute to better recovery of materials? Technical report (2017). https://www.fairphone. com/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/3.FairphoneRecyclabilityReport022017-1.pdf
- [70] Hagelüken: Recycling of (critical) metals. Technical report, John Wiley & Sons Oxford (2014)
- [71] Helbig, C., Huether, J., Joachimsthaler, C., Lehmann, C., Raatz, S., Thorenz, A., Faulstich, M., Tuma, A.: A terminology for downcycling. Journal of Industrial Ecology 26(4), 1164–1174 (2022) https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.13289. Accessed 2024-07-01
- [72] Heacock, M., Kelly, C.B., Asante, K.A., Birnbaum, L.S., Bergman, A.L., Bruné, M.-N., Buka, I., Carpenter, D.O., Chen, A., Huo, X., Kamel, M., Landrigan, P.J., Magalini, F., Diaz-Barriga, F., Neira, M., Omar, M., Pascale, A., Ruchirawat, M., Sly, L., Sly, P.D., Berg, M., Suk, W.A.: E-Waste and Harm to Vulnerable Populations: A Growing Global Problem. Environmental Health Perspectives **124**(5), 550–555 (2016) https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1509699 . Accessed 2023-02-27
- [73] Déportes, I., Fangeat, E., Desqueyroux, H.: Potential health impacts of waste electrical and electronic equipment management: a brief comparison between emerging and developed countries. Environnement, Risques & Santé 17(1), 57–64 (2018) https://doi.org/10.1684/ers.2017.1120
- [74] Leclerc, S.H., Badami, M.G.: Informal E-Waste Flows in Montréal: Implications for Extended Producer Responsibility and Circularity. Environmental Management 72(5), 1032–1049 (2023) https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-023-01857-2 . Accessed 2023-12-18
- [75] Andeobu, L., Wibowo, S., Grandhi, S.: Environmental and Health Consequences of E-Waste Dumping and Recycling Carried out by Selected Countries in Asia and Latin America. Sustainability 15(13), 10405 (2023) https://doi.org/10.3390/ su151310405. Accessed 2024-07-04
- [76] Balde, C.P., D'Angelo, E., Luda, V., Deubzer, O., Kuehr, R.: Global Transboundary E-waste Flows Monitor 2022. Technical report, United Nations InInstitute for Training and Research (UNITAR), Bonn, Germany (2022)
- [77] De Meester, S., Nachtergaele, P., Debaveye, S., Vos, P., Dewulf, J.: Using material flow analysis and life cycle assessment in decision support: A case study on WEEE valorization in Belgium. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 142, 1–9 (2019) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2018.10.015 . Accessed 2023-04-12

- [78] Clarke, C., Williams, I.D., Turner, D.A.: Evaluating the carbon footprint of WEEE management in the UK. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 141, 465– 473 (2019) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2018.10.003. Accessed 2023-10-12
- Soo, V.K., Doolan, M.: Recycling Mobile Phone Impact on Life Cycle Assessment. Procedia CIRP 15, 263–271 (2014) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2014.06.005
 Accessed 2023-10-12
- [80] Borrirukwisitsak, S., Khwamsawat, K., Leewattananukul, S., Rewlay-ngoen, C.: Material flow analysis and life cycle assessment of WEEE dismantling into recycled materials in Thailand. Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management 25(6), 3674–3689 (2023) https://doi.org/10.1007/s10163-023-01789-3 . Accessed 2024-07-04
- [81] Owusu-Sekyere, K., Aladago, D.A.: Material flow analysis and risk evaluation of informal E-waste recycling processes in Ghana: Towards sustainable management strategies. Journal of Cleaner Production 430, 139706 (2023) https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jclepro.2023.139706. Accessed 2024-07-04
- [82] Tran, C.D., Salhofer, S.P.: Processes in informal end-processing of e-waste generated from personal computers in Vietnam. Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management 20(2), 1154–1178 (2018) https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10163-017-0678-1. Accessed 2024-07-04
- [83] Deprouw, A., Borie, M., Rouquette, L.: Electrical and Electronic Equipment : data 2021 - Annual report. Technical report, In Extenso Croissance (October 2022)
- [84] Bieser, J.C.T., Hintemann, R., Hilty, L.M., Beucker, S.: A review of assessments of the greenhouse gas footprint and abatement potential of information and communication technology. Environmental Impact Assessment Review 99, 107033 (2023) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2022.107033. Accessed 2024-07-02
- [85] Malmodin, J., Lövehagen, N., Bergmark, P., Lundén, D.: ICT sector electricity consumption and greenhouse gas emissions – 2020 outcome. Telecommunications Policy 48(3), 102701 (2024) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2023.102701 . Accessed 2024-07-02